The Brickmakers of Coventry: An introduction

The attempt to research and record the history of every brickyard in Coventry is a mammoth
task, particularly when the only information may be a simple — or even single - entry in a
trade directory. Shying away from this challenge, | have concentrated instead upon a few
examples, probably the most important — or those with the best supply of information.
Primary amongst these are Webster Hemmings works (and its various earlier guises), C Gray
Hill and the Foleshill Brick and Tile Company, but there are scraps of information about
several others. We are always happy to receive information about any of these — or other -
brickmakers in the city and its environs. It is very much an on-going project.

A valuable starting point is the document produced by Wilf Hopley ‘A History in Brick’,
written in 1980 for the Coventry and District Archaeological Society, relying very much on a
practical, hands-on approach. His document is reproduced here. As Mr. Hopley wrote

“Documentary evidence is very sparse, due to the destruction of many records by enemy
action in World War Two. The report is based on Ordnance Survey Maps, interviews,
intensive field-walking and the examination of many thousands of bricks on demolition sites
all over the city”.

We have the advantage of a readily accessible newspaper archive and Census returns online,
plus, of course, the physical evidence contributed by brick-collectors of which Mr. Hopley
was one.
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A HISTORY IN BRICK.

A study of Eh:: brick = making indusiry in Coveniry, by the Coventry and District
Archneologicsl Bociety: Industrial section. Leader; Mr. W.Hopley. )

R
Dogumentary evidence is very sparse, due to the destructiion i meny records by
enemy action in World War 1l. The raport iz based on Urinance Hurviy maps,
interviews, intensive field - walkiiyr end ihe examination of many thousands of
bricks on demolition sites all over the cily.

Tiles were made at Potters Harnall snd Steke in the lhth. century. The remsins
off a kiln wers fouwdd when Harefield H¥hd was beinpg constructed in 1530.

The first written reference to briclualdng is an entry in the Coventry Leet Baok

in 1542, Briokmakers were Tequired to male their bricks a standerd 10" x 5" x 2"
urder pain of @ heavy fire. Records refer to a brick - kiln in Feleshdll in

in 1775 end "The History of Stoke' records that the lords of the menor of Stoke were
renting eut olay and sand - pits cn Htoke Heoth for brickmaking et 1/6d. per

1,000 bricks made. Clay Lane may have derdved its name from this.

Street and place - names are pointers to localities where the industry was carvded
on = leicester Sireet, Gulscn hoad and Broad otrest were all called Brick Kiin
_Lang at various times in the 174he and 28th. centuries. Thers are still Brigk -
yard plantations at Howley Homd, Bewinton ond Gibbet Hill Hoad, Westwood. The
latter ia the site of the stonsleiph fatote brickyard, wher: a slatantial
building atill remsins, witn 1873 on the gable and bricks stamped fLord Ledgh'.
With the exception of the sbove two sites and the factory of W.Tlomlinson of
Barkeras Butts Lane, Coundon, the smoin concentration of brickyards lay to the
east’ of Coventry, following the main seas of Keuper Marl. Exaall, YVictoria,
thwkeahﬁy and Wyken Collieries produced bricks #8 a pideling to their main
husiness t]mu;ahout the 15th. gentury. It was a profitable way to use up what
would otherwizse have buwon waste products. No physicsl repains of brickmaking can
be scon on these sites ot the present time, but Victorin Colliery bricks hava besn

found on a site near Victioria Farm.

Beveral yards carried on briclueking in Lengford snd s building in Oban Hoed
marks the site of the Poleshill Frick and Tile Gos ( 1850 = 1935 ). Many bricks
of the nsme were found on this cnd other sites.

In 1850, seven brighkfields existed toc the south of Primrose Hill in ‘one ares
known as Spitalmecr; now built on ond occcupied by Peymes Lane; Days Lane, Hast
Strect and Canterbury Htreet. Most of the bricks used in the extensive
construction progromme when the HIrlelds and Chapelfields districts were built
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came from these brickyerds. William Day worked in Deys Lane, J.Priestly st
Friestly's Eridge. { The lstter yard was subsequently owned by J. Snow, then
Wilkins and Snow, Wilkine =nd Webater, Wetster and Hemmings and today by
Hemmings and Son and is the only yard still in opersticn.)

J. sSoow supplied bricks for the bulilding of the Steam = flour = mill in Cox
Street and took part in the banguet at the top of the chimmey for the cpening
ceremony; in 1854, he alsc supplied the briecks to build the Britannds Strect
area. No bricks of this neme have been found: W. Tomlingon of Coundon not only
supplied the bricks for, but actually built, the 018 Market Hall in 1857. Ondy
cne brick of this name hog been fournd in our asearchea.

-
At the time of cur survey, & new sewer was being dug scross the area once called
Spitalmoor and this enabled = to find gany named bricks that 1 ssm sure would
otherwize have been lost. A complete liat of all brisks found is glven at the
end of this report.

Most of these Ibrick-mrks were in existence throughout the 15th. cemtury, but few
continued to function after 15908, Hemmings and bHon are now the sole survivors and are
stlll in business in Stoney Gtanton Boad. They cocupy & large site of L0 acres or
more between Foleshill hoad and Friestly's Bridge and earry cut mll the processes

of brickmaling frem guarrying their own clay to maling the finished artisle.

They mpke some 200,000 bricks per week. The firm wes esteblished in 1880 ond

most of the bu.ldings, ineluding the chimney, are of that date — although some,

of' pourse, had to be rebuilt after damage during the last war. The present Wr.
Hemmings comes from & long line of brlokmakers. & predecessor was a travelling brick-
mastpr employed by the early canal companies to make hricks for bridpges etc. and

a leter member of the fasily did the same for the railwey builders. Mr. Harry
Webeter lived st what is now the Hoysl Cout Hotel, Keresley.

Tie once great industry that helped to bulld Coventry has noarly gone, leaving
but few signs of ita paBE-;"Lnﬁ. Perhape Days' Lene and Friestly's Bridge are the
lust silent witnesses to s 'History in Brick'.

NAMEDY RRTCKS FOUND TN GUVENTEY.

Willkins; Wilkins and Webater; W & W ; Webster and Hemmings; Victoria Brickworks;

C. Grayhill; G.B. Tew; Tonlinscn; T.H111; T.hollascn; J.Burke all of Coventry,
and the Foleshdll Beick and Tile Company of Longford.



